ISSUES PRESENTED

Issue 1: Whether Greene procedurally defaulted his ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

Issue 2: Whether the Superior Court incorrectly denied on the merits Greene's motion for a new trial based on ineffective assistance of counsel.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a final judgment of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia that disposes of all parties' claims.

1. Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings.

In *Greene v. United States*, No. 16-CF-0286 (March 1, 2023) (unpublished) (hereafter "March 1, 2023 Decision"), this Court affirmed Greene's convictions for armed carjacking of a senior citizen, in violation of D.C. Code §§ 22-2803(b)(1) & 3601; possession of a firearm during a crime of violence, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4504(b), and unauthorized use of a vehicle to facilitate a crime of violence, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-3215(d)(2)(A). This Court's decision summarized the evidence at trial, as follows:

In the early morning hours of August 1, 2014, Mr, Greene, who also went by "Worm" and "Tracy," rode with his friend, Sean Williams, and Mr. Williams's girlfriend, Alayshia Whitted, in a minivan that Mr. Williams had stolen a few hours earlier. With Mr. Williams driving, Ms.

Whitted in the front passenger seat, and Mr. Greene in a rear seat, the three traveled from the Trinidad area in northeast Washington, D.C. to southeast D.C. During the drive, Ms. Whitted saw in the minivan a drawstring bag that was familiar to her: she had seen it on previous occasions in Mr. Greene's car. Ms. Whitted opened the bag and saw a gun with shiny black tape around the handle. Mr. Greene told Ms. Whitted that she was "nosey" and added, "[N]ever leave the house without it."

At around 1:20 a.m., Don Darden, a 65-year-old retiree, left his house in southeast D.C., got into the driver's seat of his 2010 Toyota Matrix (which was parked on the street), and lowered the driver's side window. Mr. Williams, Ms. Whitted, and Mr. Greene pulled up next to Mr. Darden and Mr. Greene wondered aloud if Mr. Darden was asleep. Mr. Williams got out of the minivan with the drawstring bag containing the gun, pointed the gun at Mr. Darden's face, and ordered Mr. Darden out of his car. Mr. Greene then got into the driver's seat of the minivan. As he did so, he told Mr. Williams to check Mr. Darden's pockets.

Mr. Darden got out of his car as ordered, moved the gun Mr. Williams was holding away from his head, and walked away from the car. Mr. Greene and Ms. Whitted drove away in the minivan and Mr. Williams drove away in Mr, Darden's Toyota. Mr. Darden immediately went into his house and his wife called 911.

Mr. Greene and Ms. Whitted (in the minivan) and Mr. Williams (in the Toyota) drove back to the Trinidad neighborhood and reconvened in an alley. During the drive, Mr. Greene told Ms. Whitted that if they get caught, she should "[t]hrow the police off." In the alley, Mr. Greene told Ms. Whitted to drive Mr. Darden's Toyota Matrix to her home in Suitland, Maryland, where Mr. Greene would pick it up the next day. Despite not knowing

how to drive, Ms. Whitted agreed. Mr. Williams said he would drive the minivan and that Ms. Whitted could follow him until she knew the rest of the way to her house. Mr. Greene stayed in the Trinidad area.

Meanwhile, officers of the Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) were looking for both Mr. Darden's Toyota and the minivan. At around 2:00 a.m., an MPD officer saw the Toyota Matrix traveling on Good Hope Road in southeast D.C. and activated his lights and sirens. Mr. Williams, who was driving the minivan in front of Ms. Whitted, began speeding away, and Ms. Whitted, driving the Toyota, followed suit. After making multiple turns at high speeds on residential streets, Ms. Whitted eventually lost control and crashed the Toyota. Ms. Whitted tried to flee but was captured by police officers. Mr. Williams stopped the minivan in the middle of the street, got out, and watched as officers arrested Ms. Whitted.

Mr. Williams called Ms. Whitted's mother, Cilenia Whitted (to whom we will refer as Cilenia to avoid confusion), and asked her to come to D.C., because, he falsely claimed, Ms. Whitted had gotten into a fight and was being treated roughly by the police. Around 2:15 a.m., Cilenia drove from Suitland, Maryland, and met Mr. Williams near the police presence involving Ms. Whitted. Cilenia approached a police car in which Ms. Whitted was being held and told the officer that the woman in the back was her daughter. Officers, curious how Cilenia could have been aware of the situation, saw Mr. Williams in the back of Cilenia's car and detained him. Mr. Darden, who had been brought to the scene by police officers, identified Mr. Williams as the individual who had taken his car at gunpoint.

At the police station, Ms. Whitted told officers that Mr. Williams and a person named Tracy were involved in the

carjacking; and, to "throw off" the police, she added that an individual named "Mike" had also been with them. The investigation eventually led officers to Mr. Greene. Cell-site location information showed that a phone used by Mr. Greene was near in time and location to the crime and other locations where, according to Ms. Whitted, she, Mr. Greene, and Mr. Williams had been together that night. Cell phone records also showed several phone calls that night between two phones used by Mr. Williams and Mr. Greene.

Approximately two months later, Mr. Greene went to Ms. Whitted's house and told her to stay quit and "keep everything on the hush."

March 1, 2023 Decision, pp. 1-4.

Ms. Whitted pled guilty to being an accessory after the fact to an armed carjacking and Mr. Williams pled guilty to carjacking a senior citizen and possession of a firearm during a crime of violence. March 1, 2023 Decision, p. 4. Mr. Greene went to trial and was convicted of the three offenses noted above. The trial court imposed a sentence of 181 months. March 1, 2023 Decision, p. 5.

2. Greene's Motion for New Trial Based on Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

On March 13, 2023 (shortly after this Court's March 1, 2023 affirmance of his convictions), Greene filed a motion in Superior Court pursuant to D.C. Code § 23-110 (the "23-110 Motion"), seeking a new trial based on ineffective assistance of counsel. Docket Entry No. ("DE") 252. Greene's 23-110 Motion claimed that counsel was

deficient in failing to object to the appearance before the jury of witness Williams, who indicated that he was unwilling to testify and then refused to answer questions in front of the jury, and in failing to object to and/or eliciting prejudicial testimony by another government witness, Cilenia Whitted. DE252:1-20. Greene requested an evidentiary hearing. DE252:20. The government opposed the 23-110 Motion, DE264, and Greene filed a Reply to the government's opposition. DE267. Without holding an evidentiary hearing, the Superior Court entered an order denying the 23-110 Motion. DE268.

The Superior Court first found that Greene had procedurally defaulted his 23-110 Motion, because he failed to raise his ineffective assistance claims earlier, while his conviction was on direct appeal. DE268:2-3. The Superior Court then ruled that even if the ineffective assistance claims were not procedurally barred, they should be denied on the merits. DE26833-6. Greene filed this timely appeal. DE269.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Superior Court erred in finding that, because Greene should have raised his § 23-110 claim of ineffective assistance of counsel while his earlier direct appeal was pending, this claim was now procedurally defaulted. As the Superior Court noted, Greene's direct appeal raised the "same" issues as his ineffectiveness assistance of counsel claim. For Greene to have simultaneously claimed that trial

been taking adverse positions in the same case. The Rules of Professional Responsibility do not countenance taking adverse positions in the same case. A procedural default is surmounted when a party can show "cause" for the default; here Greene had cause not to bring an ineffective assistance of counsel claim while his direct appeal was pending.

Turning to the merits, Greene's § 23-110 Motion argued that defense counsel's failure to object to the jury being present while prosecution witness Williams refused to answer any questions, coupled with having elicited testimony that Williams had said that Greene was a very dangerous person, was ineffective assistance of counsel. The Superior Court erroneously found this claim to lack merit. Yet, counsel was clearly deficient. Not only did allowing Williams to take the stand fail to cash in on the tactical advantage of having a previewed prosecution witness fail to appear, Williams' refusal to testify invited the jury to infer that he was doing so out of fear of Greene's recrimination, an inference supported by testimony of another witness, that defense counsel inexplicably elicited, that Greene was a "very dangerous young man." Greene's guilt or innocence should have been based on the evidence, not on improper inferences that he was a dangerous person.

The Superior Court found that even if trial counsel was deficient, the prejudice

was mitigated by its curative instructions. Yet the prejudice here was so prejudicial that it could not be overcome by curative instructions. The Superior Court also found that the outcome would not have been different in light of "overwhelming" evidence of guilt. But the evidence was far from overwhelming.

ARGUMENT

1. Greene did not procedurally default his ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

A. Standard of Review.

A determination whether a defendant procedurally defaulted a claim requires the application of "legal principles." *White v. United States*, 146 A.3d 101, 106 (D.C. 2016). This Court reviews such questions *de novo*. *Lasché v. Levin*, 26 A.3d 717, 721 (D.C. 2011) ("Our review of the application of the legal principles involved is *de novo*.").

B. The default of Greene's ineffective assistance of counsel claim during his direct appeal was surmounted by "cause," because an ineffective assistance of counsel motion would claim that trial counsel deficiently waived Greene's challenge to the trial court's decision to allow Williams to refuse to answer questions in front of the jury, whereas Greene's argument on direct appeal was premised on trial counsel's preservation of this very issue.

Citing *Shepard v. United States*, 533 A.2d 1278 (D.C. 1987), the Superior Court ruled that Greene procedurally defaulted his ineffective assistance of counsel

claims, because Greene was "aware" of the grounds for his claims – as evidenced by the fact that "[i]n the direct appeal, [Greene] raises the same two issues alleged here [in the ineffective assistance of counsel motion]." DE268:2. Greene agrees that he was raising the same issues on appeal and in his subsequent motion. But, far from erecting a procedural bar, the fact that Greene was raising these same issues on appeal establishes "cause" for his failure to file an ineffective-assistance-of-counsel motion that would have argued that his trial counsel waived, and therefore failed to preserve, the very issues he was pursuing on appeal.

As the Superior Court noted, in *Shepard* this Court held that procedural default is a barrier to consideration of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel if a defendant fails to raise this claim during the pendency of his direct appeal, when at the time the defendant knew of the grounds for alleging counsel's ineffectiveness. 533 A.2d at 1280. But the Superior Court failed to note that *Shepard* added that a defendant who showed "cause and prejudice" could "surmount" the procedural default barrier. *Id.* at 1282. One example of cause occurs when "the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available to counsel." *Washington v. United States*, 834 A.2d 899, 903 n. 8 (D.C. 2003) (citation omitted). This example of "cause" applies here.

It is well-settled that a defendant can show "cause" for not bringing an

represented on appeal by the same counsel that represented him at trial." *Little v. United States*, 748 A.2d 920, 923 (D.C. 2000). In such circumstances, "[i]t would be a conflict of interest for a lawyer to appeal a ruling premised on the lawyer's own ineffectiveness." *Id.* (citation omitted). Analogous reasoning applies here.

As the Superior Court noted, Greene's claim that his trial counsel was ineffective for waiving two issues involved the "same" issues that he had raised on direct appeal. Clearly, it would have been adverse to Greene's position on the two issues he was raising appeal for his counsel to also claim that trial counsel had *waived* these issues. Rule 1.7 of the D.C. Rules of Professional Responsibility provides: "A lawyer shall not advance two or more adverse positions in the same matter." Thus, here, the waiver-based ineffective assistance claim was not reasonably available to Greene's appellate counsel.

Moreover, as to the testimony of Williams, it was not clear, *ex ante*, whether trial counsel had in fact waived this issue, since, as this Court noted in its opinion, trial counsel "initially expressed significant misgivings about the government's repeated efforts to call Mr. Williams, stated that she had a 'big objection,' and answered 'yes' when the court asked if her proposal was that Mr. Williams 'not do that in front of the jury." March 1, 2023 Decision, p. 7. Greene's appellate counsel

williams to refuse to answer questions in front of the jury was viable on direct appeal, and that a contemporaneous adverse argument that his appellate challenge had been waived was not permitted under Rule 1.7 of the Rules of Professional Responsibility. In short, there was "cause" to surmount the procedural default.

In addition to showing "cause," a defendant must show "prejudice" in order to surmount a procedural default. *Shepard*, 533 A.3d at 1282. "When [a defendant] claims ineffective assistance of counsel, our analysis of a procedural bar is inextricably linked to the merits of ineffective assistance of counsel under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)." *St John v. United States*, 227 A.3d 141, 144 (D.C. 2020) (citation omitted). Just as *St John* blended its analysis of procedural bar default "prejudice" with its analysis *Strickland* ineffectiveness "prejudice," *id.*, this Brief addresses "prejudice" in Section 2 below.

2. Defense counsel was deficient both in opening the door to testimony that the defendant was a "very dangerous young man," and in aggravating this prejudice by allowing the witness who made this statement to testify in the jury's presence that he refused to answer any questions.

A. Standard of Review.

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims present "mixed questions of law and

fact." *Dugger v. United States*, 295 A.3d 1102, 1111 (D.C. 2023). This Court defers to a trial court's factual determinations unless they are unsupported by the record, *see id.*, and reviews *de novo* a trial court's legal conclusions on such claims. *Shepherd v. United States*, 296 A.3d 389, 395 (D.C. 2023).

B. Defense counsel was deficient both in (a) eliciting hearsay testimony, on cross-examination of prosecution witness Cilenia Whitted, that Williams told her that the defendant "wanted to hurt my daughter," because this opened the door for prejudicial hearsay testimony on redirect that Greene was "a very dangerous young man," and (b) aggravating this prejudice later in the trial when counsel failed to object to having Williams refuse to testify in front of the jury.

The theory of the government's case was that Greene was guilty of carjacking, and possession of a firearm, *as an aider and abettor*. This theory was attested to by (a) the government's closing argument that Greene "aided and abetted Sean Williams in his armed carjacking [and] in possessing a firearm during a crime of violence," 08/03/15 Tr. 89, (b) the trial court's instructions (at the prosecution's request, 07/28/15 Tr. 382) on "aiding and abetting," 08/03/15 Tr. 58-61, and (c) the jury's note during deliberations seeking clarification on "aiding and abetting." 08/04/15 Tr. 8. In other words, the evidence was admittedly insufficient to show that Greene *personally committed* the carjacking, and the firearm possession; as the trial court instructed the jury, proof of his liability depended on whether he "facilitate[d]" the

offenses, whether he "*knew* that some type of weapon would be used to commit the [carjacking] from the surrounding *circumstances*." 08/03/15 Tr. 60 (emphasis added). The prosecutor succinctly put it in closing argument: the government's case rested on proof that Greene, though not the one who committed the carjacking, "[i]ntended to make [the carjacking] succeed." 08/03/15 Tr. 85.

Much hinged, therefore, on Greene's state of mind and his character: was he the kind of person who, though sitting in the backseat of the van while Williams, at gunpoint, ordered Darden out of his Toyota and then drove off with Darden's Toyota, nonetheless should be held criminally accountable for Williams' criminal conduct because he "intended to make it succeed." Greene's 23-110 Motion demonstrated that defense counsel's ineffectiveness on this crucial point was clear.

Prosecution witness Cilenia Whitted testified on direct examination about her recollection of the night of the carjacking, namely that after Williams had called her around 2:00am and told her that her daughter Alayshia was with police, she drove up to a police car with Williams, and then saw the police arrest Williams for carjacking. 07/29/15 Tr. 433, 437, 440.

Inexplicably, on cross-examination, defense counsel brought up a conversation Cilenia Whitted had had with Williams – a conversation that had not been brought up on direct examination:

Q. Did you ever talk with [Williams] about anybody named Worm [one of Greene's aliases?

A. I have.

Q. And did [Williams] indicate his relationship with Worm?

A. Yes.

Q. And what did he say?

A. He told me that the young man wanted to hurt my daughter.

. . .

Q. And it was at that time that [Williams] told you that Worm wanted to hurt Alayshia?

A. Yes.

Q. And was it because of jealousy?

A. To my understanding, Alayshia didn't feel like this Young man was a problem to her.

Me -- my conversations with [Williams] made me feel like my daughter was in danger.

07/29/15 Tr. 445-447 (emphasis added).

Thus, on cross-examination, defense counsel, whose crucial task in this case was to elicit evidence that Greene was not the kind of person who intended to make Williams' carjacking succeed, instead elicited testimony that Greene "wanted to hurt"

Alayshia Whitted, and put her "in danger."

The prosecution, sensing an unexpected windfall, followed up on redirect examination, as follows:

- Q. When did this conversation with Sean Williams about [Greene] take place?
- A. It was on the phone.
- Q. Where was Sean Williams at the time?
- A. Incarcerated.
- Q. Was it before or after Alayshia was incarcerated?
- A. Before.
- Q. And was it before or after Alayshia told you that [Greene] had come to your house?
- A. It was after.
- Q. And what is it that Sean Williams told you that made you fearful?

[Defense counsel]: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: What's the basis of your objection? What is the basis for your objection?

[Defense counsel]: I'll withdraw [it].

THE COURT: All right. You may answer the question.

THE WITNESS: [Williams] told me that [Greene] had

asked him did he want him to get rid of Alayshia. And [Williams] said that he told the young man no, Alayshia, she good. She all right. Ain't that serious.

[The prosecutor]:

Q. Did [Williams] tell you why he was giving you this information?

A. No -- yeah, he did. When I asked [Williams] -- like I said, I don't know none of those young men. He said that the young man was a very dangerous young man.

[The prosecutor]: I have no further questions.

07/29/15 Tr. 451-452 (emphasis added).

Thus, defense counsel in effect injected into the case evidence that his client was "a very dangerous young man." In an aiding and abetting case, which hinged on whether Greene knowingly facilitated the violent crime of carjacking, this kind of evidence was extremely damaging to the defense.

After Cilenia Whitted's testimony, the parties and the trial court learned that Williams, who had pled guilty to the carjacking and agreed to testify against Greene a week earlier, was now refusing to testify at trial: Williams so stated in court, out of the presence of the jury. 07/29/15 Tr. 472-476. Williams's refusal to testify presented the defense with a potential tactical gain, because the prosecution, in opening statement, "previewed for the jury that Mr. Williams would testify and would

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