### BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

\_\_\_\_

### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 24-CO-198

Clerk of the Court Received 10/18/2024 12:49 PM Filed 10/18/2024 12:49 PM

DANIEL GREENE,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB ELIZABETH H. DANELLO ELIOT FOLSOM

- \* AMANDA CLAIRE HOOVER D.C. Bar # 1048286 Assistant United States Attorneys
- \* Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Amanda.Hoover@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2015-CF3-002834

##

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

At a bench conference that afternoon, Williams's counsel clarified that Williams did not wish to withdraw his guilty plea but would nevertheless refuse to testify (7/29/15 Tr. 468-69). All parties agreed that Williams had waived his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination, meaning that he could be held in contempt for the refusal (id. at 470). The court suggested that Williams be voir-dired outside the presence of the jury, and, after being sworn, Williams answered questions from the court and the government (id. at 471-76). The court outlined in detail the potential consequences Williams could face for refusing to testify, including time in jail for contempt and a potentially higher sentence under his plea agreement (id. at 480-82). Williams stated that he understood but would not testify (id. at 482).

The government argued that under the circumstances, Williams "appear[ed] more like a reluctant witness than a nontestifying witness," since he had "come out, raised his hand, agreed to tell the truth, said his name, was sworn, and answered questions from counsel and because he ... voluntarily" entered a plea agreement that waived his Fifth Amendment privilege (7/29/15 Tr. 483). Greene's trial counsel initially stated that she would object to calling Williams in front of the jury (*id.* at

515). The court deferred resolving the issue and directed that Williams be brought to court again the following day (*id.* at 482-83, 515).

On July 30, still outside the jury's presence, the court again confirmed that Williams understood the potential consequences for refusing to testify, and Williams stated that he would not answer questions (7/30/15 Tr. 526-30). However, the government then asked, and Williams answered, questions about Alayshia Whitted, Cilenia Whitted, and his relationship with them:

- Q. Mr. Williams, you don't want to answer questions is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Why do you not want to answer question?
- A. I just don't want to answer no questions.
- Q. You do know who Alayshia Whitted is?
- A. Yes, I do.
- Q. And you two used to be in a romantic relationship, right?
- A. (No response.)
- Q. And you do know that you are in jail right now, right?
- A. Yes, I do.
- Q. And you're facing up to 15 years just on these counts, right?
- A. Yes, I do.
- Q. And that you're facing even more time if you continue to refuse to answer questions?
- A. Yes, I do.
- Q. Now, you know who Cilenia Whitted is, right?
- A. Yes, I know who she is.
- Q. You used to stay at her house sometimes, right?
- A. I stayed there multiple times.
- Q. And she lives out in Maryland? . . .
- A. Yeah, she stay in Maryland.

- Q. She was pretty nice to you, right?
- A. I ain't never used to see her like that.
- Q. And Alayshia (*Id.* at 532-33.)

At that point, Greene's trial counsel objected that the government was "now eliciting testimony" and that "if we are going to elicit testimony, we should have the jury here" (7/30/15 Tr. 533). Greene's counsel argued that the court should "order [Williams] again . . . to answer questions in front of the jury and see if he says yes or no" (id. at 534). Greene's counsel further stated that "if [Williams] refuses to testify, I don't know where we go. I really don't know." (Id. at 535.) Counsel also noted that if Williams testified, "I would ask him about [things] that I think would be beneficial to my client," and that "[t]here are also things that I think if he doesn't testify that that is fine too" (id.). Counsel added that she believed the caselaw required Williams to refuse to testify in front of the jury (id.). The government reiterated that, despite Williams's stated intention not to testify, he was nevertheless giving testimony and should therefore be called before the jury (id. at 536-37).

The court confirmed with Williams that he understood he was being ordered to testify, and that he was refusing to do so (7/30/15 Tr. 539-40). After a brief recess, the court asked the parties if there was "[a]nything

else" they wished to say on the issue (id. at 540). Greene's counsel responded that there was "[n]othing" further (id.).

The court ruled that, despite the risk that Williams would refuse to testify, it would allow the government to call him in front of the jury (7/30/15 Tr. 541-42). The court observed that while Williams had "obviously expressed a reluctance to testify," he was not asserting any privilege and had in fact "answer[ed] some questions that were posed to him by [the government] a little while ago when [the court] told him that he should answer" (*id.* at 540-41).

The government then called Williams to the stand in the jury's presence (7/30/15 Tr. 542). When Williams stepped forward to be sworn, he acknowledged that he understood the oath, but he said multiple times, "I don't want to talk" (*id.* at 542-43). He then refused to respond to any of the government's five questions (*id.* at 543-44). The court quickly dismissed the jury (*id.* at 544-45). Outside the presence of the jury, Williams again confirmed his refusal to answer questions, and the court held him in contempt (*id.* at 545-46). He was not called before the jury again. Later that day, the court proposed, and the parties agreed to, a

standard jury instruction against drawing an adverse inference from a witness's refusal to testify (see *id.* at 579-80, 597).

On the next court day, August 3, the court once again confirmed with Williams outside the jury's presence that he refused to testify (8/3/15 Tr. 6). The government also attempted to voir-dire Williams, who now refused to answer or even to make eye contact with the prosecutor (*id.* at 6-7). The government made no further requests to question Williams or call him to testify.

With the parties' agreement (7/30/15 Tr. 579-80, 597), the court instructed the jury as follows:

In this case, Sean Williams refused to answer questions after being instructed by the Court to do so. You must not guess what Mr. Williams would have said if he had not refused to answer any questions and you must not hold it against the defendant that Mr. Williams took the stand and refused to answer any questions. (8/3/15 Tr. 45.)

### 3. The Direct Appeal

On direct appeal, Greene raised several issues, including whether the trial court erred in allowing the government to call Williams as a witness when, Greene claimed, the government knew that Williams would refuse to testify, and whether the trial court erred in denying a mistrial based on both Williams's refusal to testify and the admission of Cilenia Whitted's prejudicial testimony. See MOJ at 1-2 (A. 33-34). He did not raise any claim of attorney ineffectiveness.

On March 1, 2023, this Court affirmed Greene's convictions. MOJ (A. 33). As relevant here, the Court ruled that Greene's claim related to Williams's refusal to testify was waived because Greene's trial counsel cooperated in and did not object to the trial court's decision to put Williams in front of the jury. Id. at 4-8 (A. 36-40). The Court also held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a mistrial related to Cilenia Whitted's testimony. Id. at 8-11 (A. 40-43). The Court questioned the trial court's assumption that Cilenia's statements about what Williams told her were hearsay rather than having been offered simply to show their effect on Cilenia. Id. at 10-11 (A. 42-43). In any event, the Court noted, the evidence against Greene, including Alayshia's testimony and cell-site location data, was "substantial"; Cilenia's statement "was brief, isolated, and counterbalanced to some extent by other evidence"; and the trial court's curative instruction was "succinct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Greene was represented at trial by Betty Ballester, Esq., and on appeal first by Robert Cappell, Esq., and then, when Cappell died, by Deborah Persico, Esq.

and unambiguous," and juries are presumed to follow their instructions. *Id.* at 11 (internal quotations and citations omitted) (A. 43). In rejecting Greene's claim that Williams's refusal to testify in front of the jury also necessitated a mistrial, the Court reiterated that Greene had waived his objection and added that the trial court gave a "clear and thorough curative instruction with respect to Mr. Williams's refusal, thereby mitigating any harm." *Id.* 

### 4. The § 23-110 Motion

In his § 23-110 motion, which was filed on March 13, 2023, Greene argued that his trial counsel failed to provide him effective representation by not objecting to Cilenia Whitted's prejudicial testimony painting Greene as a dangerous young man and by not objecting to Williams's appearance before the jury and refusal to testify (A. 12). On October 13, 2023, the government filed its opposition to the motion, arguing that Greene procedurally defaulted those claims and that regardless, those claims did not warrant relief (R. 303 (PDF) (Opposition)). On December 13, 2023, Greene filed his reply (R. 332 (PDF) (Reply)).

In denying the § 23-110 motion, Judge McCabe ruled that the claims were procedurally barred because Greene did not file a § 23-110 motion while the direct appeal was pending, as required by *Shepard v. United States*, 533 A.2d 1278, 1280 (D.C. 1987) (A. 6). In rejecting Greene's assertion of cause, he reasoned that Greene "was aware of the grounds for alleging counsel's ineffectiveness," as he raised the same two issues on direct appeal (A. 5).

In the alternative, Judge McCabe addressed the merits of Greene's claims and ruled that neither ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim warranted relief (A. 7-10). The court rejected Greene's claim regarding Cilenia Whitted's testimony, finding no prejudice under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984), because her statement was "brief" and "isolated," the trial court's instruction to disregard the statements cured any harm, and the evidence against Greene was substantial (A. 9). The court also rejected Greene's claim regarding Williams's refusal to testify: although "trial counsel mistakenly concluded that [Williams] must indicate in front of a jury any refusal to testify," which was not the law, "it was not clear to the parties or to [the court] that he would refuse to answer any questions since he had answered some substantive

questions outside the presence of the jury" (A. 7). Moreover, the court reasoned that "trial counsel may also have had strategic reasons for not objecting" to Williams's testimony (A. 8). Regardless, Greene failed to show prejudice under *Strickland* because the trial court provided a clear and thorough curative instruction and the evidence of Greene's guilt was "overwhelming" (A. 8).

# B. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

"Section 23-110 is not designed to be a substitute for direct review." Head v. United States, 489 A.2d 450, 451 (D.C. 1985). Generally, "an appellant should collaterally attack his conviction on the basis of ineffective assistance of counsel during the pendency of his direct appeal." Brown v. United States, 181 A.3d 164, 166 (D.C. 2018). "[I]f an appellant does not raise a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel during the pendency of the direct appeal, when at that time appellant demonstrably knew or should have known of the grounds for alleging counsel's ineffectiveness, that procedural default will be a barrier to th[e] [C]ourt's consideration of appellant's claim." Shepard, 533 A.2d at 1280. "Where a defendant has failed to raise an available challenge to his

conviction on direct appeal, he may not raise that issue on collateral attack unless he shows both cause for his failure to do so and prejudice as a result of his failure." *Head*, 489 A.2d at 451 (citing *United States v. Frady*, 456 U.S. 152, 167-68 (1982)).

To establish "cause" sufficient to overcome procedural default, the defendant must show that he "was prevented by exceptional circumstances from raising the claim at the appropriate time." Washington v. United States, 834 A.2d 899, 903 (D.C. 2003) (cleaned up). That is, the defendant must prove that some "objective factor external to the defense impeded [defendant's] efforts" to raise the claim earlier. *Id*. (quoting Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478, 488 (1986)). Three types of objective factors have been identified as constituting sufficient "cause": (1) interference by government officials; (2) constitutionally ineffective assistance; and (3) "a showing that the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available." McCleskey v. Zant, 499 U.S. 467, 494 (1991). If the basis for cause is ineffectiveness, the ineffectiveness must have prevented bringing the claim, i.e., been external to the trial defense. See Murray, 477 U.S. at 488.

To establish prejudice, the defendant must show prejudice that "worked to his *actual* and substantial disadvantage, infecting his entire trial with error of constitutional dimensions." *Washington*, 834 A.2d at 903 (quoting *Frady*, 456 U.S. at 170 (emphasis in original)). A defendant must establish "a reasonable probability that, but for [the alleged errors,] the result of the proceeding would have been different. *United States v. Pettigrew*, 346 F.3d 1139, 1144 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694).

If not procedurally barred, denial of a § 23-110 motion is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Wright v. United States, 979 A.2d 26, 29-30 (D.C. 2009); Rivera v. United States, 941 A.2d 434, 441 (D.C. 2008). In conducting that review, this Court assesses the trial court's findings of fact for clear error and determinations on questions of law de novo. Jenkins v. United States, 870 A.2d 27, 33-34 (D.C. 2005).

In order to prevail on an ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim, an appellant must show that "his trial attorney's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that the error affected the outcome of the trial to his

prejudice." Simpson v. United States, 576 A.2d 1336, 1337 (D.C. 1990); see Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-88.

C. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Denying Greene's Ineffective-Assistance-of-Counsel Claims as Procedurally Barred Because He Did Not Raise Them on Direct Appeal.

The trial court correctly denied Greene's § 23-110 ineffective-assistance-of-counsel motion as procedurally barred. Greene failed to raise his counsel's purported ineffective assistance during the pendency of his direct appeal, and thus defaulted his ineffectiveness claim. See Shepard, 533 A.2d at 1280. Nor did Greene establish cause and prejudice to excuse his procedural default. As the court explained (A. 5), and as Greene concedes (at 8), Greene raised the same two substantive issues alleged here in his direct appeal: (1) eliciting and not objecting to Cilenia Whitted's prejudicial testimony, and (2) allowing Williams to appear in front of the jury and ultimately to refuse to testify. He therefore cannot claim (at 8) that "the factual or legal basis for [his] claim was not reasonably available to counsel." Washington, 834 A.2d at 903 n. 8.

Greene's only argument on cause (at 9-10) is that, if he had claimed in a § 23-110 motion that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to

Williams's testimony at the same time he was arguing on appeal that counsel had preserved rather than waived that objection, he would have had to stake out "adverse positions," in violation of Rule 1.7(a) of the D.C. Rules of Professional Conduct. This argument misconstrues Rule 1.7(a). That rule is designed to provide notice of what constitutes a prohibited conflict of interest by attorneys. See Rule 1.7, Comment to 2007 Revision, at [1]. The "adverse positions" that are prohibited in Rule 1.7(a) refer to "situations in which a lawyer would be called upon to espouse adverse positions for different clients in the same matter." Id. at [4] (emphasis added). Moreover, the commentary expressly states that, "for purposes of Rule 1.7(a), an 'adverse' position does not include inconsistent or alternative positions advanced by counsel on behalf of a single client." *Id*. at [3]. Thus, even assuming that a § 23-110 motion would require counsel to make an argument inconsistent with what Greene sought to argue on appeal, Rule 1.7(a) imposed no barrier.8 Greene's cause argument must be rejected.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Contrary to Greene's suggestion (at 9), both appellants and the government routinely raise alternative positions on appeal, such as that trial counsel did not waive a particular issue, but even if counsel did, the court plainly erred in ruling a certain way. See, e.g., Bell v. United States, (continued . . . )

Because Greene fails to show cause, the Court need not reach the question of prejudice, as both showings are required to overcome Greene's procedural default. See Head, 489 A.2d at 451. Yet Greene also fails to establish prejudice because, as will be discussed in the next two sections, neither of the purported instances of attorney ineffectiveness has any merit. The trial court's finding of procedural bar should be affirmed.

# D. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Rejecting the Merits of Greene's Ineffectiveness Claims.

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